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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

HEATHER BENNEY, )

Plaintiff, %
V. ; CaseNo.: 17-2548-HLT-KGG
MIDWEST HEALTH, INC.,et al., ))

Defendants))

)

MEMORANDUM & ORDER ONMOTION TO COMPEL

Now before the Court is Plaintiff8lotion to Compel Discovery. (Doc.
104.) Having reviewed the submissions of the parties, Plaintiff's motion is
GRANTED in part andDENIED in part as more fully set forth below.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

In the present action, Plaintiff camds she was formerly employed as
Director of Nursing athe Lexington Park facilitfyrom December 2012 through
September 2015. She alleges she injured her arm, shoulder, and back while
assisting a resident of the facility at work in April 2015. This resulting in the filing
of a worker’s compensation claim. Shentends that the terms and conditions of
her employment worsened asesult, ultimately leadingp the termination of her

employment.
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In her federal court Compta, Plaintiff generally deges she was subject to
disparate treatment, hostile work emoviment, deniabf a reasonable
accommodation for her disability, andakation in violation of the Americans
with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12114dt,seq. (See Doc. 1.) She also alleges
workers’ compensation retaliatory discharghd.)( Plaintiff contends that each of
the Defendantswas her employer and that engaged in the unlawful
discrimination and retaliationDefendants gendhadeny Plaintiff's allegations.

Plaintiff files the present motiongaesting the Court enter an Order
compelling Defendant Lexington’s full respe® Plaintiff's Interrogatories 18,
and 21; Defendant Midwest'slfuesponse to Interrogates 15, 18, 20, 21, 22, 23,
24, and 25; Defendant Lexington’s fulkmonse to Request for Production 65, 66,
67,68, 73, 74, 77, 78, 79, 85, 86, 8Ad 88; and DefendaMidwest’s full
response to Request for Production 68,843,82, 86, 87, 88, 89, 90, 95, 96, 98,
104, 105, and 106. (Doc. 104Based on Plaintiff’'s representations, the Court is
satisfied that the parties adequateinferred regarding the disputed discovery,
although they were unable tosodve their disagreements.

ANALYSIS

l. L egal Standards.

1 Defendants are Lexington Park Nursinge@ions, LLC (hereinafter “Lexington” or
“Lexington Park”), Midwest Health, Inc. éneinafter “Midwest”), and Midwest Health
Management, Inc. (hereiftar “Management”).
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Fed.R.Civ.P. 26(b) states that

[p]arties may obtain dcovery regarding any
nonprivileged matter that islerant to any party's claim
or defense and proportional to the needs of the case,
considering the importance of the issues at state in the
action, the amount in controngy, the parties' relative
access to relevant informatiahge parties' resources, the
importance of the discovery in resolving the issues, and
whether the burden or expense of the proposed discovery
outweighs its likely benefitinformation within this

scope of discovery need no¢ admissible in evidence to
be discoverable.

As such, the requested informatimist be nonprivileged, relevant, and
proportional to the needs of the case to be discoverélakck v. Burkhart, No.
16-1188-JTM-KGG, 2018 WB72440, at *2 (D. KanJan. 11, 2018).

1. Disputed Discovery Requests.

A. Interrogatory No. 15 to Midwest.

This Interrogatory asks if Plaintiffas “told there were concerns regarding
her sharing and/or showirgnails and/or text messagen or before September
17, 2015?" (Doc. 104-3, at 1-2.) DefentMidwest was instructed to “describe
each reason” Plaintifivas so informed. Id.) Defendant responded that there were
“two basic concerns” regarding the Interrogatory.

The first was that plaintiff did not need to share all
matters pertaining to her enogiment and work in email

with multiple individualsvhen she only needed to
address things to her supeniignd second, at that time
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she had a one hour per dgping restriction and was
spending her time typing rather lengthy emails instead of
completing the reports that she was requested to focus
her energies on. Howeveavhile communications may
have been discussed whis. Benney at various times
prior to September 12015, there was not any
disciplinary or corrective @on taken by the [D]efendant
at any time prior to Septdyar 17, 2015 pertaining to her
emails.

(1d., at 2.)

Plaintiff complains that this answernenresponsive. (Dod04, at 7.) As
Plaintiff points out, Defendant Midwesttesponse indicates that communications
“‘may” have happened.ld.) Defendant argues that the answer is “responsive ... to
the best of Midwest'’s abilities.” (Doc. 114t 2.) The Court agrees with Plaintiff,
however, that the answer is not fully pessive. As Plaintiff states, “either the
conversations happenedttee Defendant’s knowledge, or they did not.” (Doc.
104, at 7.) This portion of Plaintiff's motion GRANTED and Defendant
Midwest is instructed to respond to tiigerrogatory in a manner that removes
such qualifying language.

B. Interrogatory No. 18 to Midwest.

Interrogatory No. 18 asks whetherfBedant Midwest employed “regional
nurses” in 2014 and 2015. (DdD4-3, at 3.) Defendant was then asked, if the

answer was “no,” to “identify thentity which you contended employed the

regional nurses who oversddefendant’s facilities.” Id.) Defendant responded



that “Regional Nurses have worked Mrdwest Health Consulting, Inc. which
provides services to Midwest Health.” Plgif again complains that this answer is
nonresponsive. As Plaintiff indicatestdrrogatory No. 18 first seeks a yes or no
answer to a specific questi. (Doc. 104, at 7.)

Plaintiff contends that “[flrom Defedant’s stated answer it is unclear
whether the Defendant asserts thatrédggonal nurses wemmployed by Midwest
Health Consulting Inc. in 2014 and 2015/d.J “Rather, the answer vaguely
states that the Regional Nurses have wddor that entity, but does not define the
time period.” (d.) Defendant Midwest argues tlthe answer “is responsive to
the question as written” because it &titly identifies the employer for the
Regional Nurses in the in time period spedifby the Plaintiff.” (Doc. 114, at 2.)
The CourtGRANTS in part Plaintiff's motion as to Interrogatory No. 18 and
instructs Defendant to supplement its respdnsinclude a “yes or no” answer to
the first portion of Plaintiff’'s inquiry.

C. Interrogatory No. 20 to Midwest.

Interrogatory No. 20 asks Defend&idwest to “[d]escribe each step
Defendant has takdn assess Marie Vogel's celhpne privacy settings and each
step Defendant has taken to inssafety precautions on Marie Vogel's cell
phones, and state the date of each actkenta (Doc. 104-3, at 3-4.) Defendant

responded that its “IT department workigh employees to set up the phones with



secured access to an internal networkiémhich is continually updated at the
network level as needed. This included setting a passcode when originally
presented to IT for Ms. Vogel to enter in informationldl.
Plaintiff again complains that Defendanfaswer is not fully responsive.
First, the Interrogatory aslksr the date of each action
taken. No dates havedreprovided. Second, the
Answer refers to a passcodbeit does not state what the
passcode is to, or the ddte passcode was set up.
Third, the Answer does not explain what steps are taken
to give secure access to ih&ernal network email, and
the Answer does not explain whether, or when, this was
done with Ms. Vogel. Fourth, the Answer does not
explain what continued updatare done at the network
level.
(Doc. 104, at 8.) The Court agrees wthintiff. Defendant’s response describes
steps it generally takes regarding eoygle cell phones. It does not relate
specifically to steps taken regarding Pldintor does it provide specific dates, as
requested. Plaintiff's motion SRANTED as to Interrogatory No. 20 and
Defendant Midwest is instructed poovide a complete response.
D. Interrogatories2ltoMidwest and 18 to L exington.
These Interrogatories ask Defendavitdwest and Lexington to “[ijdentify
each rule, regulation, policy, or procedubefendant contends Plaintiff failed to
follow or adhere to while working fddbefendant, and describe the reason(s)

Plaintiff failed to follow them.” (Doc. 108, at 4; Doc. 104-2, at 2.) Defendants

responded, “[t]his interrogatoig similar to and addresséhe issues that the Court
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appears to have dealt with as part &f khotion to Compel, for interrogatory No 11
which is to be supplemented as reqdiby the Court order by December 19,
2018.” (Doc. 104-3, at 4-5; Doc. 104-2, 31 Defendants also referred Plaintiff to
a lengthy list of documentsid() Defendants concluddbeir responses by stating
that “[a]s to the reasons plaintiff failed follow such rules, regulations, policies
and procedures, only plaintiff can dabe the reasons why that is.Td()

Plaintiff contends that Interrogatoride “not ask for Defendants’ opinion as
to why Plaintiff believes she failed tolkow the policies.” (Doc. 104, at 9.)
Instead, according to Plaintiff, the Imegatories are “directed towards to
Defendant [sic], clearly asking Defendamthat the reasons were underlying the
policy violations.” (d.)

As worded, the Interrogatories clgaask Defendants to “describe the
reason(s) Plaintiff failed to followfules and policies/hile working for
Defendant. The Court finds this portion o&iRltiff's Interrogatory to be improper.
As Defendants argue, the interrogata@y written, “clearly asks for theasons the
Plaintiff failed to follow such rules, regulations, paks and procedures.” (Doc.
114, at 4.) The Court agrees. Plaintiffther, than Defendants, would be the
person to indicate why she did not followgigen rule or policy. Defendants are,
however, instructed to enumerate each,n@gulation, policy, or procedure they

contend Plaintiff failed to follow or adheto while working for Defendant. As



such, this portion of Plaintiff’'s motion SRANTED in part andDENIED in
part.

E. Interrogatory 22 to Midwest.

Interrogatory No. 22 asks Defendantdviest to “[ijdentify each employee
who has ever taken docuntation containing patient naes off of Defendant’s
premises and state the reason(s) the eyegl did this.” (Doc. 104-3, at 5.)
Defendant responds that

[t]his cannot be answered tee question is posed, as it
contains no time frame as a reference for answering the
same, does not define premises or what is being sought as
a premises, and is not limitéal any particular aspect of
the companies [sic] affairs @fhich Midwest Health is
involved in many differentantract relationships with
many different entities over multiple states. For
example, certain employeeftthis Defendant would go

to various nursing homes other businesses which
contracted with Midwest Hath, Inc., and would view
records at the location ofdtbusiness that contracted

with Midwest Health, Inc.If we are considering the
premises to be the Midwest Health corporate office
building, then this would be considered offsite from the
main building of Midwest Healthnc. In addition, most
medical records were electronic at the time plaintiff was
terminated, and thus individual may be considered to be
viewing documentation offsite if they viewed this record
on a secured and authorized electronic platform from any
location other than in thilidwest Health Building,

which again would include the building of the
contracting party. Moreoveduring the course of this
[Dlefendant’s existence, maxdil records were not always
electronic and thus the entire platform under which
medical records existed has changed and attempting to
determine that at this poirg not necessarily practical,
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possible or relevant to thigigation. Simply put, without
further refinement, the questi cannot be answered with
any degree of accuracy.

(Doc. 104-3, at 5-6.)

In her letter of April 5, 2019, Plairtiagreed to limit the scope of this
Interrogatory as follows: “For theeqars 2014-2015, pleaskentify each employee
who has ever taken docemtation containing patiemames outside of any
building owned by any Defendant, and stae reason(s) the employee did this.”
(Doc. 104-6.) Defendant still refusedraspond to the interrogatory, arguing that
it remains facially overbroad becauséstill encompasses every building owned
by any of the [D]efendants.” (Doc. 114,59} According to Defendant Midwest,
the task of identifying “every empyee who has evéaken documentation
containing patient names outside of #hésildings is so overly broad that it
renders the request impossible to answed’) (Defendant continues that “[ijn the
regular course of business it is foreséeadnd practical, that employees have
taken such documentation outsiddlté many buildings owned by the
Defendants” and “[t]he is absolutely no way for éhDefendants to identify every
[such] instance.” I¢.)

Plaintiff replies that Defendant’s q@ense “demonstrates its refusal to make

a good faith attempt to respond.” (Dod9] at 4.) For instance, Plaintiff

complains that Defendant has failed tendfy what “practical’ reasons there are



for documentation to be taken out oéthuildings, and which employee(s) would
be authorized to take the documentation out of the buildingd.) The Court
notes, however, that the interrogatory did nétfas such specifics to be provided.

The Court agrees with Defendant dmdls that Interrogatory No. 22, as
worded, is ambiguous, overly broad, and m@iportionate to the needs of this
case, even with the limitatns proposed in Plaintiffgolden rule letter. This
portion of Plaintiff's motion iDENIED.

F. Interrogatory No. 23 to Midwest.

Interrogatory No. 23 asks Defendant Midwest to “[s]tate the reasons for
assigning an employee to sit with Plaihwiile she was workig in the corporate
conference room in September 2015 andrilesthe specific actions, if any, the
employees took to assist Plaintiff while ggsd sit with her.” (Doc. 104-3, at 6.)
Defendant responded that

In part it was to ensure thplaintiff was working toward
completion of the outstanding reports and to assist the
plaintiff (as practical under the circumstances) in
completing the reports. In addition, it ensured that
plaintiff did not violate the work restrictions, got to take

her breaks as needed, and that there was someone present
if plaintiff needed anything.

(1d.)
Plaintiff contends that the responsedydes half of the information sought

by the Interrogatory, but does not answer plortion seeking a description of ‘the
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specific actions, if any, the employees took to assist Plaintiff while assigned sit
with her.” (Doc. 104, al2.) Defendant argues thasggning a person “to assist
the plaintiff (as practical under the circstances) in completing reports” as stated
in the response “describes the speafiton” taken. (Doc. 114, at 6.)

The Court does not agree with DefentdlaRather, the Court finds that
Defendant’s response provides only the most general — rather than “specific” —
description of the actions taken by this eoygle to assist Plaintiff. Defendant is
instructed to provide a supplemental resgotigring this deficiency. This portion
of Plaintiff's motion iSGRANTED.

G. Interrogatory 24 to Midwest.

Interrogatory No. 24 asks Defendantdviest to “[ijdentify each DON and
facility Administrator from any facility who was terminated during the Relevant
Period and state the reason(s) for termination.” (Doc. 104-3, at 6.) Defendant
objected that “a reasonable time period is only from 3 years prior to [P]laintiff's
termination to 2 years & her termination.” I{l. (citation omitted).) Defendant
also objected that each of its facilities disferent with different levels of income
and care serviced, and diffatestaffing issues unique &ach facility,” and “may
address discipline for its employeefeliently,” making such terminations
irrelevant to Plaintiff's claims. I14.) Defendant contendlat “[a]s it is written,

this interrogatory is facially invalid arttie prospective relevance of such materials
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IS not proportional to #needs of the case.ld() That stated, Defendant provided
a list of administrators and DirectorsMéirsing who “have been terminated from
the skilled nursing side.” 1d.)

As an initial matter, Plaintiff contendlsat Defendant’s objections were
waived “as they were not stated within the time period Defariuad to respond to
discovery.” (Doc. 104, at 13.) Plaintiff contends that Defendants’ discovery
responses were due to Plaintiff on NovemB6, 2018, but were not served until a
later date and that the extension wasrequested until after this deadline had
passed. Ifl.) Defendants respond that they wgneen an extension of December
7, 2018, to respond to the discovery, #8melefore did so in a timely manner.
(Doc. 114, at 6.)

The Court notes that Defendants expéd in their initial motion for an
extension that the reason the request was not filed before the deadline had expired
was because defense “counsel’s office wi@sed on November 26, 2018 due to
weather.” (Doc. 72, at 1.The Court subsequently fouttus initial request for an
extension to be mootlkause Defendants filed an additional request for an
extension, which the Cougranted, and therefore the Court did not address the
substance of the initial motion thre mentioned weather delayse¢ Docs. 76 and
77.) That stated, the Court now finds tbatfendants had an eguate explanation

for the one-day delay in filing its initial ggest for an extension. As such, the
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Courtoverrules Plaintiff's contention that Defendgs’ objections were waived as
untimely?

Plaintiff also argues that Defendant Midwest’s response is improper because
it is provided subject to an objectiofDoc. 104, at 13.) As this Court has
previously held, “[a]nswering discovergquests ‘subject to’ objections is
‘manifestly confusing (at best) and mislaagl{at worse), and has no basis at all in
the Federal Rules of Civil ProcedureGreat Plains Ventures, Inc. v. Liberty
Mut. Fire Ins. Co, No. 14-1136-JAR, 2015 WL 404497at,*2 (D. Kan., Jan. 29,
2015) (citingSprint v. Commc’ns Co., L.P. v. Comcast Cable Commc'ns, LLC
No. 11-2684, 2014 WL 545544 at *2 (Ran. Feb. 11, 2014)).

Defendant responds that it “did notpesd to Interrogatory 24 subject to an
objection.” (Doc. 114, at 6.Rather, according to Defendant, it

raised the objections toterrogatory 24 within the
Response, noting that a ‘list of Admins and DONS that
have been terminated fratime skilled nursing side has
been provided as part ofgldocuments in the case’ as
supportive of the Defendant’s objections that
Interrogatory No. 24 is requesting discovery that the
prospective relevance stich materials is not
proportional to the needs tife case. The previously
produced list of Admins and DON'’s that have been

terminated from the skilled nursing side is not offered as
a Response to the Plaintiffisterrogatory 24, it simply

2 The Court applies this finding and oversiRlaintiff's untimely ontention as to any of

the discovery responses for it the issue was raised, inding responses to Requests

for Production 73, 81, 82, 887-90, 95, 96, and 106 to f2adant Midwest and Requests
for Production 66-68, 73, 74, 77-785-88 to Defendant Lexington.
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points out that the Defendant has previously provided the

materials that are relevanmdproportional to the needs

of the case, as set out withime scope of relevance as

defined under Fed.Riv.P. 26.
(Id., at 6-7.) The Court agrees with Dedant that the list is not offered as a
response to the discovery request at issuerather is a reference to proportional
information that has previously beeropided by Defendant. The Court also notes
that Plaintiff does not address Defendaetplanation in her reply brief.Sée
Doc. 119, at 5-6.) The Court thager rules Plaintiff’'s contention that Defendant
stated an improper “subject to” objectitinthis discovery request.

Finally, Defendant Midwest contendsattPlaintiff has not “demonstrate[d]
the relevance of this request(Doc. 114, at 7.) Plaiiff argues, however, that the
objections are inapplicable because tlseaWvery request was “posed to Midwest,
who was responsible for terminating the Admins and DONSs at the various
facilities” and therefore involves “theame decision makers regarding all
terminations.” (Doc. 104, at 13.)

The Court finds Plaintiff's Interrogary No. 24 to be relevant and
proportional to the needs of the caset ageks information regarding similarly
situated employees who were terminabgdhe same decision-makers. This
portion of Plaintiff's motion iISSRANTED. Plaintiff's inquiry is, however,

limited to the time frame dhree years prior to her termination until the present.

H. Interrogatory 25to Midwest.
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Interrogatory No. 25 asks DefendantdWiest to “[iJdentify the person(s)
who requested Chitama Chitama’s emailstegldo Plaintiff, state the date of the
request, and explain the reasons whyt&ha Chitama wrote handwritten notes on
some emails.” (Doc. 104-3, at 7.) feedant responded tbe Interrogatory by
stating that

[a]t this point it appears th#te emails would have been
requested by either Jenifer Sourk or Marie Vogel, and
Chitama Chitama put the handiten notes on to clarify
his concerns and issues pertaining to the same. Itis
believed that this was doneastly after the time of the

Plaintiff's complaint to the KHRC, but an exact date is
unknown.

(1d.)

Plaintiff contends that Defendant’s #&wer is not fully responsive to the
Interrogatory because “either Defendlnbws the information or it does not” and
“[t]he Interrogatory is not asking Defdant to guess. ...(Doc. 104, at 14.)

Plaintiff points out that Sourk, Vogednd Chitama Chitama all remain employed
by Defendant, “so Defendant shdude able to ask ... them to obtain this answer.”
(1d.)

The Court agrees with Pldiff. Plaintiff's motion isGRANTED as to

Interrogatory No. 25 and Defendant Midwesordered to provide a complete

response to this Interrogatory that removes the offending qualifying langueage (
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“[a]t this point it appears that the emansuld have been qeiested,” “[i]t is
believed...”).

. Interrogatory 21 to L exington.

Interrogatory No. 21 asks Defendamixington to “[iJdentify each person
who has logged into any @fefendant’s electronic systems ... utilizing Plaintiffs
log in information, and state the reasondaod date of the log in.” (Doc. 104-2, at
4.) Defendant responds that the “mtgatory cannot be answered as posed”
because “[i]t is simply unknown to def@ant if anyone ever logged in under
Plaintiffs log in other than plaintiff.” I.) Defendant did, however, provide
Plaintiff with a list of log-ins. Id.)

Plaintiff contends that in her “goldeule” correspondence, she “inquired as
to what search had been done to obtiagnrequested information” but Defendant
failed to provide a response to this inquifpoc. 104, at 14.) Plaintiff argues that
“Defendant should not be permitteddionply say it is ‘unknown’ without
conducting a search, which would include asking its employeé&s) The
underlying Interrogatory does not, hever, ask for additional information
regarding what type of search was cartdd and Plaintiff is not necessarily
entitled tosua sponte expand a discovery requestsnbsequent correspondence.
The Court also notes that the only way Defendant to cmpile an accurate

answer to this question is to ask “allitsf employees whether they logged into any
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of the electronic systems through Plaintiff's log in information and ask([s] their IT
Department to conduct a search regagdim addresses.” (Dot19, at 7.) The
Court finds that this task would be unglurdensome and disproportionate to the
needs of the case. The CoDENIES Plaintiff's motion as it relates to
Interrogatory 21 to Lexington.

J. Request 68 to Midwest and 65 to L exington.

These Requests ask Defendants Midvaesl Lexington to “[p]Jroduce each
email containing any patieneme which any employee Defendant has sent to a
non-work email address.” @2. 104-4, at 3; Doc. 104-5, at 4.) Defendant
Lexington responds with an objection tkfad request is “temporally remote,”
irrelevant, and not propoamal to the needs of the case because it “contains no
time frame from which to formulate a sela’” (Doc. 104-4, at 4.) Defendant
Lexington continues that the requestsdo “contain proper search parameters,”
making it is impossible “to formulate aasonable search” because Plaintiff has
failed to define “what non-work email addees are that are to be searched for.”
(1d.)

Defendant indicates that, to its kniedge, “no employee, other than
plaintiff, has sent patient name and mmh@ation to their own private email account
from a facilities [sic] work email.” Ifl.) The answer of Defendant Midwest

mirrors that of Defendant LexingtonSeg Doc. 104-5, at 4-5.)
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In her “golden rule” correspondencealpltiff stated that “[tlhere are many
ways to formulate a reasonable &gt including Defendants asking their
employees for their personal email addes. (Doc. 104-6, at 8.) Plaintiff
contends that this would allow Defendsaitd search its email accounts using the
provided email address to identify theaals sent to/from any of Defendants’
email accounts.|d.) According to Plaintiff, it would then “just be a matter of
reviewing the emails for content.’ld() Plaintiff also contends that Defendants
could go through the “personnel recordgtbéir] employees in which they have
provided their personal enhaddresses, so that wallbe another way to obtain
those.” (Doc. 104, at 15.) Plaintiff “agmes Defendant’s IT is also likely aware
of how to search Defendant’s email agats to pull emails which were sent from
an internal email account to amternal email account.”ld., at 16.) Plaintiff also
points out that she has limited thesasch to the years 2012 through 2018l.) (

Plaintiff argues the requested infortoa is “important” because Defendants
are “now apparently asserting that a red@sorPlaintiff's termination was that she
sent an email containing patient nafiemm her work email account to her
personal email account.ld) According to Plaintiff Defendants “should not be
permitted to refuse to respond to the Retjuathout even attempting to conduct a

search.” (d.)
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The Court finds that the manneniarich Plaintiff proposes Defendants
could compile this information toe unnecessarily complicated, unduly time
consuming, and convoluted. Simply statethintiff's suggested solution clearly
establishes that these requests are roptqutional to the needof the case.

Further, as to the relevance and impaoce of this information, Defendants
argue that

[i]t is irrelevant whetheany employees, other than
Plaintiff, has actually seatient name and information
to their own private emadccounts from a facilities[’]
work emailif the Defendant has no knowledge of that
occurring. The Plaintiff woul have to show that the
Defendant knew of any othemployee doing such, and
then not terminating that employee. Defendants have
provided that, to the knowdige of the Defendants, no
employee, other than Plaintiff, has sent patient name and
information to their own private email account from a
facilities’ work email. Theraidre[,] this discovery request
Is irrelevant and unnecessary to the needs of this case.
(Doc. 114, at 9 (emphases in original).) The Court agrees with Defendants and
DENIES Plaintiff's motion as to Reque68 to Midwest and 65 to Lexington.

K. Request 73to Midwest and 68 to L exington.

Requests 73 and 68 ask Defendants Mislvand Lexington to produce “all
guality assurance reports for all facilitieftiring the relevant time period. (Doc.
104-5, at 6; Doc. 104-4, at 5.) Defend&htiwest objects that the requests are “so

overly broad” as to beconferelevant” because of the numerous facilities at issue

(25 Assisted Living facilities, 8 Indepdent Living facilities, 8 Rehabilitation
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facilities, and 8 Memory Carfacilities in the State of Kansas). (Doc. 104-5, at 6.)
Defendant Midwest further caemids that “[e]ach facility iglifferent with different
levels of income and care serviced, difterent staffing issues unique to each
facility. (1d.)

Both Defendants contend that the Resisi@re “vague and ambiguous as it
is unknown and undefined what plainigfseeking as a quality report” because
Risk Watch, the quality assurancegram used by Defendant utilized by
defendant “does not issue any specifigont but is rather a repository of
information.” (Doc. 104-4, at 5; Doc. 1(}-at 6.) Defendastcontend that “[a]n
individual may look up issues in Risk Whte/hich address certain aspects of care
or incidents that occur,” but that no specifieport” is sent ogenerated. (Doc.
104-4, at 5-6; Doc. 104-5, at 6.) Accorglto Defendants, this makes it impossible
to “answer the request as pose(l'04-4, at 6; 104-5, at 6-7.)

Plaintiff argues that the objections drapplicable.” (Doc. 104, at 17.)
Plaintiff states that she used the tewuality assurance reports” because that term
“has been used by Defendants in this laitv® refer to occurrence reports, which
Ms. Marie Vogel specifically testified atd be printed off and produced.Td(
(citation omitted).) Defendasitrespond that “despite any statements made by Ms.
Marie Vogel, the Defendantio not have any specific quality assurance ‘reports,’

and therefore, cannot providach.” (Doc. 114, at 10.)
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Plaintiff replies that Ms. Vogel refete such reports as “Quality Assurance
Audits.” (Doc. 119, at §citation omitted).) According to Plaintiff,

[these documents have bemfierenced and discussed
numerous times throughout this litigation and seemed to
be well known to Defendasitwitnesses. These
audits/reports apparently are used to audit the entire
facility, in order to prepare for the annual surveys.
[Citation omitted.] As such, these audits/reports would
be an extremely useful way compare the performance
of the Directors of Nursing dhe various facilities. If the
other DONs engaged in the same or similar conduct as is
alleged regarding Plaiffitis performance, yet those

DONSs were not terminated, this could be used as
evidence to demonstrate prete®laintiff requests the
Defendants be required psoduce the Requested
documents.

(Doc. 119, at 8.)

The Court has previously held tlmtlocument request implicating all of
Defendant’s facilities “is facially overbaal and encompasses information relating
to facilities that are entirely irrelant to these proceedings.Ze€ Doc. 70, at 26-

27.) Regardless of whether the documentssue are titled “quality assurance
audits” or “quality assurance reports,’aiitiff has failed to establish how this
information — from all of Defendant’'silities, regardless of care serviced or
facility staffing issues — would be relevant and proportionate to the evaluation of
any guality assurance with which Plainigfalleged to have failed to comply.
Plaintiff’'s motion is therefor® ENIED as to Request 73 tdidwest and Request

68 to Lexington.
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L. Request 81to Midwest.

Request No. 81 asks Defendant Midwest{p]roduce the content of each
investigation (including falls, infectiooontrol, skin), which Chitama Chitama
assisted any facility complete in the year 2015.” (Doc. 104-5, at 8.) Defendant
objected, in part, that the Request “hasearing on the claims and defenses at
issue or plaintiff's failure to completeer reporting and as such the prospective
relevance of such materials requestedngp$y not proportional to the needs of the
case.” (d., at 9.) Defendant continued thiatvould “attempt to locate” and
produce within ten days “such items but at this time, it is unknown what
information may be able toe located and produced.id()

Plaintiff reiterates that Defendant’s “subject to objection which, as stated
numerous times previously in this litigatiogs,improper in the District of Kansas.”
(Doc. 104, at 18.) Federal Ruwé Civil Procedure 34(b)(2)

permits only three responses to a request for production
of documents: produce the documents as requested,
‘state an objection to the request’ as a whole, or state an
‘objection to part of [the] request’ provided that the
response specifies the part objected to and responds to
the non-objectionable portion. ‘Objecting but answering
subject to the objection is nohe of the allowed choices
under the Federal Rules.’

Sprint Communications2014 WL 545544, at *3 (citation omitted). It is improper

for a party to respond to a discovery resjiuwith objections while indicating it will
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provide responsive material anywaychase such a response “is neither an
objection, nor an adequate identification of the responsive documéhik. V.
Liberal School Dist, Nos. 06-2093-JWL, 06-2360-JWL, 06-2359-JWL, 2008 WL
294217, at *5 (D. Kan. Feb. 11, 2008).
Defendant argues that it did nospend to Request 81 as subject to
objection. Rather, acating to Defendant, it
raised the objections withilne Response, noting that a
search would be conductedltzate any items, and if any
were located, those itemowuld be produced. However,
no items have been produced, and the Defendant
maintains that this objection is valid.
(Doc. 114, at 11.)
The Court does not agree with Defendantiaracterization of this response.
As quoted above, Defendant’s response included specific objections as to Request
81, but then stated that Defendamuid “attempt to locate” the requested
documents. (Doc. 104-5, at 9.) Defendant continued that “[t]o the extent” the
information could be “located,” it woulde produced within ten days, although it
Is “unknown what information may lable to be located and producedld.)
As discussed in regard to Interrogatory &4ara, this Court has specifically
stated its disapproval of “conditional” discoyeesponses, such as occurs when “a

party asserts objections, but then pded a response ‘subject to’ or ‘without

waiving’ the stated objections.See also Westlake v. BMO Harris Bank N.A.
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No. 13-2300-CM-KGG, 2014 WL 1012669, *B(Kan. March 17, 2014) (internal
citation omitted)Great Plains Ventures2015 WL 4044977, at *2 (citation
omitted). The Court notes Defendant’spense does not include the “subject to”
or “without waiving” language. The factmains, however, that Defendant has
specifically listed and explained the reas it finds Plaintiff's request to be
objectionable, but then indicates that it will provide responsive documents in the
context of these objections.

Further, in its responsive brief, Def#ant states that “no items have been
produced, and the Defendant maintains thigtobjection is valid.” (Doc. 114, at
11.) This is clearly improper and confusing. Plaintiff has no way of knowing if no
responsive documents exist or, on the oti@nd, if responsive documents exist
but are being withheld subject to the objecti@mrint Communications2014
WL 545544, at *2 (citation omitted).The Court instructs Defendant to respond to

this request in accordanegth Fed.R.Civ.P. 34.

3 Defendant’s response is distinguishablerfiits responses to Interrogatory 24 to
Midwest,supra, and Request 82, infra, wherein Defemdaferred Plaintiff to a prior,
related document production after statingaiarbbjections. Those discovery responses
were not made “subject to” or “without waivingfie stated objections. Defendant merely
directed Plaintiff to responsereviously given, therefore there no confusion has been
created as to whether documents to those stgjaee being withheld. On the other hand,
in response to Request 81, Delant states that it will “atterhpo locate such items” as
are specifically responsive to Request 81.
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That stated, the Court turns its analysis to Defendant’s underlying objection
that the request “has no bearing on thentéaind defenses at issue or plaintiff's
failure to complete her reporting andsagh the prospective relevance of such
materials requested is simply not propamal to the needs of the case.” (Doc.
104-5, at 9.) Plaintiff argues that the inf@tion is “highly important to the needs
of the case, as Plaintiff mtibe able to compare haynduct to the conduct of other
directors of nursing at other facilities in orde determine if thy were treated the
same as her.¢, terminated) for the same or sian conduct.” (Doc. 104, at 18.)
Defendant responds that “[t]ieeis no delineation as to veh type of facilities this
Is sought from, and requests documdram multiple facilities which have no
bearing on the Plaintiff or her claims.” @b. 114, at 12.) Plaintiff replies that

Defendant’s response regargl this request simply
ignores the fact that thisformation is relevant to the
issue of pretext in this casés Defendant has failed to
make any specific argument swhy this information
would not be relevant to thesue of pretext, and because
the information certainly is relevant to that issue, Plaintiff
requests Defendant be reaad to conduct a diligent
search for the requestadormation and produce the
same.

(Doc. 119, at 9.)

The Court finds that Plaintiff Isasufficiently established how this

information is relevant to the claimaddefenses in this case given the broad

scope of discovery. FurtheDefendant Midwest hasifed to address whether the
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information is relevant to the issuemmietext. Defendant’s objections are
overruled and Plaintiff's motion iSSRANTED as to Request No. 81.

M. Request 82to Midwest.

Request 82 instructs Defendant Mt to “[p]roduce the facility chart
audits for each nursing/care facility coleed by Chitama Chitaa and/or Alice
Noll for the Relevant Period.” (Doc. 104-5, at 9.) Defendant objects that the
request “has no bearing on the claims andraefe at issue or plaintiff’s failure to
complete her reporting and as such thaspective relevance of such materials
requested is simply not proportidria the needs of the case.ld) Defendant
also contends that the request implicdtasltiple facilities whch have no bearing
on plaintiff or any of the claims thahe failed to complete her reportingfd.j
Defendant next objects that the “goes beyond the acceptable time period of 3 years
prior to plaintiff's termination t@® years after her termination.1d( (citation
omitted).)

Defendant continues that

requests regarding chart audits are problematic in that
they may also be done wilittle or no documentation as
it tends to be a nursing issue in which the regional nurses
look at files to see if there is a problem and then will
either directly talk to the facility people responsible or
may provide a limited email.

Defendant has already produced some

documentation regarding chart audits at the Lexington
Park Facility during plaintifs tenure as DON and will
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supplement the same if additional documentation is
located.

(Doc. 104-5, at 10.)

Plaintiff again complains that Defenddhas responded to this Request
subject to objection which, as stated numetauss previously in this litigation, is
improper in the District of Kansas.'ld() Defendant argues that it “did not
respond to Request 82 as subject tecipn.” (Doc. 114, at 12.) Rather,
Defendant contends it “raised the objens within the Response, noting that a
supplemental production to a previous, ardtesl, request would be provided if
additional documentain was located.” 1{l.) The Court finds Defendant’s
explanation to be persuasive and notes Biaintiff does not address this argument
in her reply brief. (See Doc. 119, at ¥ discussed in the preceding section, the
Court also finds Defendant’s response is tkquest to be distinguishable from its
response to Request No. 81. The Court twesr ules Plaintiff's contention that
Defendant stated an improper “subject to” objection.

The analysis thus turns to the subs&of Defendant’s objection that the
request is irrelevant and not proportibttathe needs of the case. Plaintiff
contends that “this documentation is highdyevant to the needs of this case, as
Plaintiff must be able to evaluate therformance of othdacilities and directors
of nursing versus her own, and the rageidisciplinary actions taken (or not

taken) as a result of the same or similanduct.” (Doc. 104, at 19.) Plaintiff
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continues that “[o]ne of the only waysdo this is through comparing the chart
audits, especially as the same regionases were compiag them for all
facilities.” 1d.

Defendant argues that “[t]here is delineation to which type of facilities
this is sought from, angkquests documents from multigéeilities which have no
bearing on the Plaintiff or her claimfis(Doc. 114, at 13.) The Court has
previously held that a document requesplicating all of Defadant’s facilities “is
facially overbroad and encompassesiinfation relating to facilities that are
entirely irrelevant tdhese proceedings.”"S#e Doc. 70, at 26-27.)

Plaintiff provides the following explanation as to why the information
sought through Request 82 is relevanhat necessary, to support her claims.

Plaintiff must be able to copare the performance of her

facility, and thus her perforamce as a DON, to that of

the other facilities. Onemiple way to do that is by

comparing the chart audits tife facilities. The same

three regional nurses werenapleting the audits, and Ms.

Vogel was supervising all edhem. Thus, the facilities,

and thus the DONs who aresponsible for the facilities,

are being reviewed by the same individuals, and are

subject to the same policies and procedures of Defendant

Midwest.
(Doc. 119, at 9.) Plaintiff failed to makeghype of specific showing of need as to
the information at issue in the Court’sqrOrder (“each annual state survey for all

facilities located in the state of Kandeem January 2012 to the present” (Doc. 37-

3, at 34)). Given the broad scope of discovery, Plaintiff has established the
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relevance of the information sought Rgquest 82 and hasexflately rebutted
Defendants’ assertion that the infation “from multiple facilities ... [has] no
bearing on the Plaintiff or her claims(Doc. 114, at 13.) As such, the Court
overrules Defendant’s objections ateRANT S Plaintiff’'s motion as to Request
No. 82 to Defendant Midwest. The relevant time frame for this request shall be
limited to three years before Plaint#ftermination until the present.

N. Regquest 86toMidwest and 77 to L exington.

Requests Nos. 86 and 77 ask Delients Midwest and Lexington to
“[p]Jroduce all witness statements fromyawmccurrence at Lergton Park for the
year 2015.” (Doc. 104-4, at 10Defendants’ responded that

[w]itness statements are something contained with
Riskwatch system. Here ti@ourt has already addressed
the issues relating to Riskwatch in its rulings on the
Motion to Compel (See RegsieNo. 49 to Defendants
Lexington and Midwest). Tthat end, any witness
statements which would have any bearing on issues in
this case would have to be pafithe record of what was
completed and not completender Riskwatch at the

time of plaintiff's termination, and thus are already being
handled in accordance with the Court’s rulings on the
Motion to Compel.To the extent that plaintiff seeks
witness statements outside of issues already addressed in
the Motion to Compel, the prpsctive relevance of such
materials is not proportion&d the needs of the case as
they will simply have nothing to do with this case or any
claims therein.

(Id., at 10-11.)
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Plaintiff argues that Defendants aresotiaracterizing the Court’s Order on
the prior motion to compel which, aading to Plaintiff, “did not prohibit
discovery of Riskwatch information.” (Do&04, at 20.) “Further,” according to
Plaintiff, “this is a different Request thapecifically addressifg in the Motion to
Compel. Plaintiff isasking for every witness statement.” (Id. (emphasis
added).)

This distinction, however, is whyehCourt finds Requests 86 and 77 to be
objectionable. These requests, as worfledally encompass witness statements
regarding “occurrences” that are thorouginkglevant to the claims and defenses
of this case and, therefore, the requesbisproportional to the needs of the case.
The Courtsustains Defendants’ objections amRENI ES Plaintiff's motion as to
Requests Nos. 86 and 77.

O. Request 87 to Midwest.

The next request asks Defendihtwest to “[p]Jroduce the emails
containing weekly reports sent to i@ma Chitama and/or Alice Noll from any
facility in the years 2014-2016.” (Doc. 1&4at 12.) Defendant objected that the
“request as drafted has no bearing on thendaand defenses at issue or plaintiff's
failure to complete her repong” and, thus, is irrelevd and not proportional to
the needs of the casdd.)] Defendant continued that the request

goes across multiple facilitieghich have no bearing on
plaintiff or any of the claims that she failed to complete

30



her reporting. However, tHeourt has already addressed
the issues regarding the weekgports in its rulings on the
Motion to Compel (See RegsteNo. 57 to Defendants
Lexington and Midwest). In that ruling, the Court
indicated that Defendant is to provide all such reports that
exist for Lexington Parkh accordance with the
requirements of the motion to compel and it will do so.

(1d.)

Plaintiff contends the requested documents are “highly relevant in order for
Plaintiff's performance to be evaluatadainst the performance of the other
facilities’ directors of nursing.” Ifl.) Plaintiff distinguishes the request at issue in
the prior Motion to Compel as dealingtivPlaintiff's “weekly reports” while the
instant request deals with “the weekgports received by Chitama Chitama or
Alice Noll from any facility.” (d.)

Defendant responds that the request is facially overbroad and irrelevant
because “[t]here is no delineation to whigype of facilities this is sought from,
and requests documents from multipleiliies which have no bearing on the
Plaintiff or her claims.” (Doc. 114, 44-15.) Plaintiff's motion indicates that
“[t]he requested documentseahighly relevant in orddor Plaintiff's performance
to be evaluated against the performaotcthe other facilities’ directors of
nursing.” (Doc. 104, at 21.Her reply brief addressesisifurther, stating that
requesting the weekly report®i the DONs of all facilities

is another way for Plaintiff to compare her performance
to similarly situated individuals to establish pretext. The
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testimony in this case from Defendant’'s witnesses
indicates that Defendant’s position is that one of the
alleged offense committed by Plaintiff was that she was
not completing her weekly reports. Plaintiff must be able
to compare this purportedieduct to the conduct of the
other DONs. Plaintiff requesDefendant be required to
produce the requested information.

(Doc. 119, at 10.)

As discussed above, the Court has previously held that a document request
implicating all of Defendant’s facilities “is facially overbroad and encompasses
information relating to facilities that aretarly irrelevant to these proceedings.”
(SeeDoc. 70, at 26-27.) The Court agdinds, however, that Plaintiff has
provided the Court with sufficient exaation — her need to compare her
performance to similarly situated empéms — to differentiate the breadth of
Request 87 with that of the requesissue in the Court’s prior Order.

Further, Defendant’s response does mlolrass Plaintiff’'s explanation of the
relevance of the information other thimnmerely state that information “from
multiple facilities [has] no bearing on the Piadlf or her claims.” (Doc. 114, at
15.) Defendant has failed oeet its burden in oppag the discovery request.
Waters v. Union Pac. RR CoNo. 15-1287-EFM-KGG, 2016 WL 3405173, at *1
(D. Kan. June 21, 2016) (holding thatcera party filing a motion to compel has

established the “low burdeaf relevance..., the legal iden regarding the defense

of a motion to compel resides withetparty opposing the discovery request”)
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(citing Swackhammer v. Sprint Corp. PC325 F.R.D. 658, 661, 662, 666 (D.
Kan. 2004) (stating that the party resigtadiscovery request bears the burden to
support the objections)). As such, the Cawdrrules Defendant’s objections and
GRANTS Plaintiff's motion as to Requeblo. 87 to Defendant Midwest.

P. Request 88 to Midwest.

This Request seeks “the Risk Wataldits of each facility conducted by any
regional nurse for the years 2014-2016."0€D104-5, at 12.) Defendant Midwest
objects that the request, as written, is disproportionate to the needs of the case and
irrelevant to the claims and defensessatie “or plaintiff's failure to complete her
reporting.” (d., at 12-13.) Defendant pointsit that the request encompasses
“multiple facilities which haveno bearing on plaintiff or any of the claims that she
failed to complete her reporting, and cover outside facilities and even the time
period beyond when plaintiff worked.1d, at 13.) Defendant indicates, however,
that audits of Lexington Park perfoeh during 2014 and 2015 have been
previously producedld.) Defendant also offered to supplement such audits
within ten days of the filing of iteesponse to Plaintiff's motion.d;)

Plaintiff argues that the requested doemts “are highly relevant ... in order
for Plaintiff's performance to be evaleal against the performance of the other
facilities’ DONs.” (Doc. 104, at 22.) Dendant, again, merely states that

documents from “multiple facilities ... have no bearing” on Plaintiff's claims.
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(Doc. 114, at 15.) As stated by Plaintifbefendant fails to acknowledge that the
Risk Watch audits are another way tongare the performance of the DONSs at the
various facilities.” (Doc. 119, dt0.) According to Plaintiff,

[tihese audits are extremely reémt to the issues in this

case, considering Defendanfocus on the RiskWatch

system. Plaintiff must be able to compare her

performance to the other DOldad must be afforded the

opportunity to demonstrate that the proffered reasoning

for her termination was prettual. The same regional

nurses were completing thesesRiVatch audits for all of

the facilities and Ms. Vogel was supervising all of them;
thus, the DONs were similarituated to Plaintiff.

(1d.)

Plaintiff has adequately explainedathihe requested are relevant to
evaluating Plaintiff's performance as coaned to against the performance of the
other facilities’ DONs. (Doc. 104, at 22.) Defendants failed to rebut — or even
specifically address — Plaintiffeaxplanation. The Court thaserrules Defendant
Midwest’s objections anGRANT S Plaintiff’'s motion as to Request No. 88.

Q. Request 89to Midwest.

Request No. 89 asks Defendant Midimes‘[p]roduce the comprehensive
chart audits of each facility conductled any regional nurse for the years 2014-
2016.” (Doc. 104-5, at 13.) Defendanjeadis that the request, as written, is
irrelevant and not proportionate to theede of the case and “goes across multiple

facilities which have no beariran plaintiff or any of the claims that she failed to
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complete her reportingnd cover outside facilities and even the time period
beyond when [P]laintiff worked.” I4.) That stated, Defendant indicated that
audits of Lexington Park performed2014 and 2015 were previously provided.
(1d.)

For the reasons set forth above, the Court@lsor ules Defendant’s
objection that the information has “no bieg’ on Plaintiff's claims. The Court
finds that Plaintiff has adequately explained that the documents are “highly
relevant ... in order for Plaintiff's peormance to be evaluated against the
performance of the other facilities’ DONs(Doc. 104, at 23.) Further,
Defendants makes no effortr@but this explanatioather than to generally
contend that “documents from multigdigcilities ... have no bearing on the
Plaintiff or her claims.”(Doc. 114, at 16.) The Couwverrules Defendant
Midwest’s objection an€6RANT S Plaintiff’'s motion as to Request No. 89.

R. Request 90 to Midwest.

This Request asks Defendant Midwes“[p]roduce # correspondence and
communications between the State ohkas surveyors and Defendant for the
Relevant Period.” (Doc. 104-5, at 1Pefendant objects that the request, as
worded, is irrelevant to “the claims ande&lgses at issue or plaintiff’s failure to
complete her reportingnal not proportional to the needs of the casd., &t 14.)

Defendant continues that the requegi€s across multiple facilities which have no
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bearing on plaintiff or any of the claims that she failed to complete her reporting,
and cover outside fdities, beyond when plaintiff worked.”lqd.) Defendant also
objects that the request should be tempotatited to 3 years prior to plaintiff's
termination to 2 years @& her termination. Id.)

Finally, Defendant objects that the reguis vague and ambiguous as to the
definition of “surveyors.” Id.) Defendant contends that it “does not necessarily
have any communication with the surveyors as they tend to do their job
independent of the facility and withoamnouncement of when they will be at a
facility.” (Id.) According to Defendant, “thetends to be no documentation with
the surveyors during the period from 3 yganisr to plaintiff's termination to 2
years after her termination,” but Defentlaffered to provide any supplemental
documentation within 10 days of the filing of its respongd., &t 14-15.)

Plaintiff contends that the “subject to” nature of this objection is improper in
the District of Kansas. (Doc. 104,2.) While the response does not use the
“subject to” or “without waiving” languagéefendant has specifically listed and
explained the reasons it finds Plaintiffequest to be objectionable, but then
indicates that it will provide responsiddocuments “[tJo the extent such
documentation is located,” in the context of these objections. (Doc. 104-5, at 14-
15.) Further, in their responsive briBefendants maintain that they “believe[s]

the issues raised within the objection arkdvand appropriate.’(Doc. 114, at 17.)
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The Court again notes the improper andfasing nature of such a response.
Plaintiff has no way of knowing whetheo responsive document exist or whether
responsive documents exist but are bewtgheld subject to the objectiorsprint
Communications 2014 WL 545544, at *Rcitation omitted).

Defendant Midwest’s response istdiguishable from its response to
Request 82supra, wherein Defendant referredaiitiff to a prior, related
document production and indicated it woslgoplement such prior production if
additional documents weredated. The response to Request 82 was not made
“subject to” or “without waiving” the stated objections. Defendant merely directed
Plaintiff to responses previously givein response to Request 90, however,
Defendant states that documentation resperts this particular request will be
provided if it is located. (Doc. 104-5, at 14-15.) As discusspi, such a
response is clearly not allowed under Felderde of Civil Procedure 34(b)(2).

See Sprint Communications 2014 WL 545544, at *&itation omitted).

The Court is also troubled by faadant’s language that it “does not
necessarily” communicate witdurveyors who “tend to” work independent of the
facility. (Doc. 104-5, at 14.) Accordirtg Defendant, “there tends to be no
documentation with the surveyors dgithe period from 3 years prior to
plaintiff’'s termination to 2 gars after her termination.’1d() Plaintiff is not

requesting information as to general rudesendencies. She is seeking specific
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communication between Defendant &tdte of Kansas Surveyordd.( at 13.)
Either the information existr it does not. The Court th&RANT S this portion
of Plaintiff's motion and instructs Dafdant Midwest to respond in accordance
with Fed.R.Civ.P. 34.

S. Requests 95 and 96 to Midwest.

Request No. 95 directs Defendantdwest to “produce the documents
containing communications regardingreferring to the Lexington Park facility,
where the communications are between gegional nurse assigned to Lexington
Park in August, September, and Octob@l15 and any other p®n.” (Doc. 104-5,
at 16.) Request No. 96 seeks the pradauoof the documents “discussing or
referring to concerns about the LexiogtPark facility from April 2015 through
December 2015.”14.)

Defendant objects that the requestsyasded, are “oveyl broad ... leading
to copious amounts of random commutimas over the period at issue.l'd( at
16-17.) Thus, Defendant finds the requedte irrelevantiad not proportional to
the needs of the casdd.) Given the context dhe Court’s order on a prior
motion to compel in this casBefendant indicates it has

already produced the documents relevant to plaintiff's
employment and will verify that it is has produced all
documents from any regnal nurse assigned to
Lexington Park relating to Plaintiff's employment, job

performance, discipline, agplaints or claims of
disability discrimination and taliation, and/or workers’
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compensation issues and make any supplements within
ten (10) days.

(1d.)

Plaintiff again complains of tHsubject to” nature of Defendant’s
objections. (Doc. 104, at 25, 26.) discussed in the context of Defendant’s
response to Request &pra, this response was not made “subject to” or “without
waiving” the stated objections. RathBefendant merely directed Plaintiff to
responses previously given and oftéte supplement the same. The Court
overrules Plaintiff's “subject to” contentin as to Requests 95 and 96.

Plaintiff contends Request No. 95‘severely limited in time and scope”
and, therefore, it “should be simple Defendant to obtain this documentation by
searching the email accounts of the thremgonal nurses for the time period of
August-October 2015.” (Doc. 104, at pRlaintiff argues Requests 95 and 96
would encompass “communications regagdihe documentation needing to be
completed at the facility, ehissues, if any, regarding documentation completion at
the facility, and those matters whiakhile they do not specifically mention
Plaintiff, would have high relevante the issues in this case.ld(, at 25-26.)

The Court finds these requests, as wortiethe facially overbroad. To seek
all communications to or from any regamurse assigned to the Lexington Park
facility that are in any way “regarding ceferring to” that facility, as sought by

Request 95, would clearly implicate docemis that have nothing to do with the
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claims or defenses in thtmse. The wording of Raest No. 96 is even more
troubling as it seeks any documents reffieing “concerns” about the facility
without defining what constitutes a “connér Not only is this request facially
overbroad, it is also facially vaguacdambiguous as to what constitutes a
“concern.” Plaintiff's motion iDENIED as to Requests 95 and 96.

T. Requests 98, 104, and 105 to Midwest.

Request 98 seeks “documents discusemgferring to any plan, procedure,
or steps taken to address or ‘fix’ any cemts or issues at Lexington Park after
Plaintiff was no longer the DON at thacility.” (Doc. 104-5, at 17.) Next,
Request 104 directs Defendant Midwest[p]roduce the documents containing
any communication of Chitama Chitama amy other person discussing Plaintiff
transferring to Rolling Hills.” Id., at 19.) Request 105 asks for “documents
containing any communication of Alié¢oll and any other person discussing
Plaintiff transferring to Rolling Hills.” Id.) Defendant indicates that it “does not
know of” any such documentation but will supplement the responses if any such
information becomes knownld(, at 17, 19.)

In her “golden rule” correspondence, RIHAF inquired as to what search was
conducted for this documenitan. (Doc. 104-6, at 13.) Plaintiff states that
Defendants did not respond to this inquiffpoc. 104, at 27.) Plaintiff further

contends that there have been “numeirngag&nces in this case where it has been
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indicated that Defendant has not cortddca search or has not conducted a
reasonable search” and, thasks the Court to compel Defendant to “conduct a
full search for the requested infornmatiand fully respond to the Requestld.)

In their responsive brief, Defendantsnelg state that the responses to these
three requests “are responsive to the reguesto the best of Midwest’s abilities.
No such documentation is known to éXis(Doc. 114, at 20.) Pursuant to
Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 26(g)(1), every discoveequest, response or objection must be
signed by at least one attorney of recdsy. signing, the attorney “certifies that to
the best of the person’s knowledgdpmmation, and belief formed after a
reasonable inquiry,” the discovery responsebjection is “consistent with these
rules and warranted by existing lawlyr a nonfrivolous argument for extending,
modifying, or reversing existing law, @or establishing new law,” the response or
objection is “not interposed for any ingger purpose, such &sharass, cause
unnecessary delay, or needlessly incrélaseost of litigation,” and that the
response or objection is “neither unreasonable nor unduly burdensome ...
considering the needs of the case, pdiscovery in the case, the amount in
controversy, and the importance of the issatestake in the action.” Fed.R.Civ.P.
Rule 26(g)(2)(B)(i-iii).

Given the certification associated withunsel’s signature on the discovery

responses at issue, the Court thusdindinnecessary to require Defendants to
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provide a description of the searcleytconducted, particularly when such
information was not sought in the initiakdovery request. Simply stated, defense
counsel has attested that no responsiveiahents exist and this is sufficient.
Plaintiff's motion isDENIED as to Requests 98, 104, and 105.

U. Reguest 106 to Midwest.

Request No. 106 asks Defendant Mesbivto “[p]Jroduce the documents
containing any disciplinary actions of aegnployee of Defendant or of any facility
regarding personal cell phoneddor laptop and/or emailsage.” (Doc. 104-5, at
19.) Defendant objected that the requesitains no temporal limitation “and thus
becomes so temporally remote as to beearelevant and not proportional to the
needs of the case.ld) Defendant continues thidae request is overly broad and
vague because it has not been limitednyg particular facility or facilities
managed by Defendant atwlould require [D]efendantio go back and review
issues concerning its contracts withA¥sisted Living facilities, 8 Independent
Living facilities, 8 Rehabilitation facilitiesand 8 Memory Care facilities in the
State of Kansas since the inception of each relationshig.) Defendant further
objects that the request is so broadly wordedo be irrelevant to the defense of
after-acquired evidence and the allegatihat Plaintiff “sent work emails
containing protected information keer personal email account which was

unprotected.” 1d.)
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Plaintiff contends that the request is sufficiently related to the after-acquired
evidence issue. (Doc. 104, at 28.) Shgas that she “should be able to receive
this information to compare those d@mary actions with Defendant’s newly
purported reason for termination” anchtends that any security concerns
regarding the use of a personal eraatount “would be the same concerns
regarding use of a personal cell phone, or laptojd’) (

As discussedupra, the Court has previously held that a document request
implicating all of Defendant’s facilities “is facially overbroad and encompasses
information relating to facilities that areterly irrelevant to these proceedings.”
(SeeDoc. 70, at 26-27.) As to Requd$i6, however, Plaintiff has provided a
sufficient explanation as to why the infaatron sought is relevant to her claims —
to compare disciplinary actions takenbgfendant as to other employees who
acted in a similar manner in the contekDefendant’s “newly purported reason”
for Plaintiff's termination. (Doc. 104, at 98PIlaintiff failed to make this type of
specific showing of need as ttoe information at issue the Court’s prior Order.

Further, although Plaintiff is alleged have created a security concern by
the use of a personal email account, tber€agrees that such a concern would
“be the same ... regarding use géexrsonal cell phone, or laptop.fd(, at 28-29.)
Defendants merely respondatifdocuments from multiple facilities [would] have

no bearing on the Plaintiff or her claimsDefendants have failed to meet their
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legal burden to opposedldiscovery requestWaters 2016 WL 3405173, at *1
(citation omitted). The Court thus overrules Defendant’s objection&SRANTS
Plaintiff's motion as to Request 106 tofBedant Midwest.The document request
Is, however, limited to disciplinary actioalated to security concerns caused by
the use of personal cell phone and/or la@tog/or email usage. The request is
further limited to the time frame of threears before Plaintiff's termination until
the present.

V. Request 66 to Lexington.

This Request asks Defendant Lexingtori[p]roduce eacliext message any
employee of Defendant has sent contaimagient names.” (Doc. 104-4, at 4.)
Defendant objects that the request, agtevr, “contains no time frame from which
to formulate a search and thus becosw&mporally remote as to become
irrelevant and not mportional to the needs of the caseld. Defendant also
contends that that it “dog¢sot] have the ability to eleainically locate or search
text messages as textssages come from privgphones” and “[tjhere is no
reasonable way to determine this, much testetermine this for the entirety of the
existence of the defendant and going biacky to search faner employees.”

(1d.)
Defendant continues that Plaintiffaleged to have s¢ emails from her

secured work email to her private unsecuredieaddress is at issue in this case.
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(Id.) Thus, according to Defendant, iesue of texting is irrelevant and not
proportional to the needs of the cashkl.)( Plaintiff argues that “there are many
ways to formulate a reasonable sedrcthis Request,” including having
Defendant “ask its employees for thettmessages.” (Dod 04, at 29.)

The Court finds Plaintiff's request tiearly be beyond the scope of the
issues in this case. Evassuming the information was relevant to the issues in
this lawsuit, the difficulty Defendantould encounter in compiling this
information makes the requatisproportional to the need$ this case. Further,
the lack of a temporal limitation makesstinequest facially overbroad. Defendant
Lexington’s objections araustained and the CourDENI ES this portion of
Plaintiff’'s motion.

W. Request 67 to Lexington.

Request No. 67 directs Defendankimgton to “[p]Jroduce each emall
containing any patient name whichyaemployee of Defendant has sent or
received from a cell phone, including eachadwhich includes the language ‘sent
from my iPhone’ or any otldanguage stating the ethaas sent through a cell
phone.” (Doc. 104-4, at 5.[pefendant objects thatdlrequest is temporally
overly broad because it contains toiting time frame, making the information

sought irrelevant and disproportidedo the needs of the caséd.Y Defendant
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continues that “[w]ithout proper searphrameters, there is no way in which to
formulate a records searchdbtain such information.” 1¢.)

Defendant also argues that it has basserted that Plaintiff sent emails
from her secured work email to hernyaite unsecured email address, not the
sending emails from a cell phondd.J As such, accordg to Defendant, the
inquiry is irrelevant and not proparynal to the needs of the caséd.)

Plaintiff addressed the proportionality ebjion in her “golden rule” letter to
Defendant by contending thBefendant conduct a search using the term “sent
from my iphone” and similar language fohet phones. (Doc. 104, at 31; Doc.
104-6.) Plaintiff also agreed tionit the search from 2012-2018ld() Defendant
did not agree to these restrictions.

The Court finds the breadth of Plaifisfrequest to go beyond the scope of
the issues in this case. Further, esssuming the information was relevant to the
issues in this lawsuit, the difficulty Bendant would encounter in compiling this
information makes the requeadearly disproportionate tihe needs of this case.
Defendant Lexington’s objections asgstained and the CouDENIES this
portion of Plaintiff’'s motion.

X. Requests 73, 74, 78, 86, 87, 88 to L exington.

Requests 73, 74, and 78 seek “an er#ttronic copy” of the Risk Watch

system, the Vision system, and the Hedigd X system, “including all records
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and reports, for the years 2012-2015, including electronically stored data or
paper document.” (Doc. 104-dt 7-9, 11.) This is to include any “active” files,
electronic backup files, “deleted” but recoakle electronic files, “electronic file
fragments (files that have &e deleted and partially omeritten with new data),”
and slack fragments “(data fragmestsred randomly from random access
memory [RAM] on a hard drive during tm®rmal operation of a computer [file
slack and or RAM slack] or sedual data left on the hadtive after new data has
overwritten some but not all of previously stored datahd’) (

Defendant Lexington objects that the Rests are facially overly broad and
not proportional to the need$ the case as they seekstinformation for “a 90+
bed facility over a three year period.ld( at 8, 9, 11.) Defendant also complains
that the requests implicate private healtiormation with “absolutely no bearing
on any issues concerning Plaintiff’'s fagduo complete reports and document
incidents.” (Id., at 9, 11.)

The Court notes that the production aivpte or confidential information is
not, in and of itself, a valid reasonwathhold discovery as the production could
governed by a protective orddfigh Point SARL v. Sprint Nextel CorpNo. 09-
2269-CM-DJW, 2011 WL 4008009, at *2 (D. iKaSept. 9, 2011). “A concern

for protecting confidentiality doesot equate to privilege.”1d. (citation omitted).
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That stated, Requests Nos. 73, 74, &\das worded, are facially overbroad
and disproportionate to the needs of theecaBhe Court notes that Defendant has
explained to Plaintiff that “the computsoftware programs do not function in the
way that Plaintiff s counsel believes possible” and the requested “searches are
simply not possible to run.” (Doc. 114,28.) Defendant Lexington’s objections
aresustained and Plaintiff’'s motion iOENIED as to Requests 734, and 78.

Defendant also argues that, in addressegprior motion to compel filed in
this case relating to the Risk Watch system,

the Court indicated that if there is any way for
[D]efendants to locate the records pertaining to what
[P]laintiff completed and whathe had not at the time of
her termination, this is to be extracted from the system,
and the defendant is ordered to do so by December 19,
2018. As the issues in this litigation concern [P]laintiff’s
level of completion of such reports and whether there
were outstanding reports at the time of her termination,
this would appear to berahdy handled under the Order
issued by the Court, done subsequent to the issuance of
these requests. For this reason the production of the
entire Riskwatch system from 3 years prior to
[P]laintiff’'s termination to 2 years after her termination
... would not only be duplicative of any information to
be produced under the Motion to Compel, it would
simply fail to provide any further information concerning
the records at issue, and for which [P]laintiff’s
employment was terminated for [sic].

(Id., at 7-8;see alsoid., at 11-12.) The Court agreesh this assessment.
Defendant Lexington was also diredtto produce “the entire electronic

medical record for each patient of DefentldRequest No. 86), “the entire Risk
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Watch record for each patient of Defendg®equest No. 87), and “all records for
each patient of Defendant” (Requékit. 88) from 2012 to 2015. Id;, at 15-17.)
Defendant objected that these requestoaerly broad, not proportional to the
needs of the case, and implicate privagalth information with “absolutely no
bearing on any issues concerning RI#is failure to complete reports and
document incidents.”ld., at 16.)

Again, the private or confidential naiuof requested information is not a
valid reason to deny a discovery requésigh Point SARL, 2011 WL 4008009, at
*2. That stated, Requests Nos. 86, 8« 88, as worded, are facially overbroad
and blatantly disproportionate to the ne@d the case as they would implicate
countless documents relating to every patient of Defendant for a period of three
years with no limitation as to how the infaation might possibly relate to Plaintiff
or her claims in this case. The Coaldo notes defense counsel’s assertion the
requested “searches are simply not gmedio run.” (Doc. 114, at 26.)

Plaintiff replies that she has “thoroughly and methodically considered
Defendant’s various positions” as to Resfise’ 3, 74, 78, 86, 87, and 88 and has
“determined that a simple solution woudd to simply request the production of
each electronic system’s records, so fiaintiff can review the information.”
(Doc. 119, at 14.) Plaintiff contends tlhis is appropriate because “[c]ertainly,

this information is likely to lead tthe discovery of admissible evidencdd. This
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“solution” proposed by Plaintiff — just pduce all of the documents because surely
there is some information likely to leémlthe discovery of admissible evidence —
is the very definition of a fishing expgidn. Further, “likely to lead to the
discovery of admissible evidence” is lomger the standard for discovery in
federal courts. Rather, the standard veassed nearly four years ago pursuant to
the December 1, 2015, amendments to Fed.R.Civ.P. 26. Defendant Lexington’s
objections arsustained and Plaintiff's motion i©DENIED as to Requests 73, 74,
86, 87, and 88 to Lexington.

Y. Request 79to Lexington.

This Request seeks “reports of thesident at risk’ meetings conducted at
Lexington Park in the years 2012-201%Doc. 104-4, at 12.) Defendant
Lexington responded that it “de@ot have ‘reports of ‘resident at risk’ meetings”
sought by Plaintiff. Id.) According to Defendant,

[tlhere is testing done on residents as part of the initial
intake and whenever thereda incident or occurrence
that would indicate some risk or harm to the resident.
Based upon the testing and whapears to be the issue
that resulted in the incident, a plan is implemented to deal
with the needs of the resident and to ensure that risk is
minimalized. Most often theris a meeting to discuss the
plan to be put in place but there is not any independent
report that emanates from theetiag. To that end, there
are no documents that spiezally comply with the

request. However, to the extent that a resident at risk is

discussed in the weekly repeisee response to Request
No. 80.
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(id.)

Plaintiff contends that Defendantesponse “makes Plaintiff wonder
whether Defendant’'s employees eveviewed these Requests or whether a
diligent search was conducted” becauseréteas been testimony in this case that
there were weekly ‘resident at risk’ (RAReetings at Lexingh Park.” (Doc.

104, at 34 (citation omitted).)
It was indicated that the RAR reports were included in
email, and also in the clinical records. From the
Response, it seems clear the author did not even know
what was being referred to, wh is troubling. In her
April 5th correspondence (Exhibit F), Plaintiff indicated
these concerns and asked Defendant to please conduct an
actual search for these documents and produce them.
Defendant did not indicate that it had done so. Plaintiff
requests the Court therefayeder that Plaintiff be
entitled to the information requested through these
Requests, so she caoncluct her own search.

(Id. (citation omitted).)

Because the cited deposition testimony hat been submitted as an exhibit,
the Court cannot determine if Plaintiffaearacterizing it correctly. That stated,
Defendant’s brief in opposition ignores tssue entirely and merely states that the
“[rlesponse to Request 79 is responsiveh®question as written” and that the
“answer fully and directly addresses fRequest.” (Doc. 114t 28.) Defendant

makes no effort to respond to Plainsffassertion regarding testimony of weekly

“resident at risk” (RAR) meetgs at Lexington Park.
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The Court therefore directs Defendamiprovide a supplemental response
that addresses Plaintiff's characterizatudrthe cited deposition testimony. If the
testimony indeed indicates that suclsident at risk” meetings occurred at
Lexington Park, Defendant is instruct@dproduce the same for the years
requested by Plaintiff. While the Courtsheome concerns as to the breadth and
proportionality of the information reqsd, Defendant Lexington has not raised
these objections. Plaintiff’'s motion is, therefdBRANTED as to Request 79 to
Lexington.

Z. Request 85toLexington.

This Request seeks production of “documentation of each instance of
coaching or discipline Plaintiff issued amy employee while she was the Director
of Nursing at Lexington Park.” (Doc. 1@4-at 15.) Defendant Lexington objects
that the request is irrelevant and not dional to the needs dfie case because it
is unaware “of any issues in the case fer[f]laintiff or the [D]efendants that deal
with [P]laintiff meting out discipline or counseling to employeekd))( Defendant
also objects that the request is vagne ambiguous because the term “counseling”
is undefined, “whether this is a digsion in passing betwe¢P]laintiff and an
employee or some specifigsue that [P]laintiff wantedn employee to formally

address.” Id.) Defendant contends that Pldgfii*would be in a better position to
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indicate whom she counseled and tawpurpose, where&efendant can only

provide the documented discipline that [sisslied and only after having to search
the independent employee files for a period of three years to determine if [P]laintiff
issued some discipline to an employedd.)(

Plaintiff contends that there “have baammerous assertions in this lawsuit
that Plaintiff failed to properly disciplinend manage her own $tathus leading to
the purported negative performance a ttexington Park facility,” thus making it
“important to review the coaching anddipline she issued wha she was DON.”
(Doc. 104, at 35.) Plaintiff argues thhis information “relates to Plaintiff's
employment, thus has been compelled be produced alreddy).” (

While Plaintiff generally contends thelnave been assertions that she failed
to properly discipline and mage her staff, she has ramtually identified when,
by whom, and/or in what context suabsertions were allegedly made.
Defendants, on the other hand, specificatlgst that they are unaware “of any
iIssues in the case for the [P]laintifftbie [D]efendants that deal with [P]laintiff
meting out discipline or counseling to employeekd))( Given Defendants’
attestation, Plaintiff has failed to mdwedr burden to show that this request is
facially relevant. As sugiDefendant’s objection mustained and the Court

DENIES Plaintiff's motion as to Reque86 to Defendant Lexington.
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IT ISTHEREFORE ORDERED that Plaintiff's Motion to Compel (Doc.
104) isGRANTED in part andDENIED in part as more fully set forth above.
All supplemental responses, includingpessive documents, shall be served by
Defendantsvithin thirty (30) days of the date of this Order.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

Datedthis 12" day of July, 2018, at Wichita, Kansas.

s/ KENNETHG. GALE
HON.KENNETH G. GALE
U.SMAGISTRATE JUDGE
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